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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

MELISSA HAMAN,
Plaintiff,

V. No. 3:17-cv-1752 (VAB)
NANCY A. BERRYHILL,

Acting Commissioner of Social Security
Defendant

RULING AND ORDER ON MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS AND
MOTION TO AFFIRM THE DECISION OF THE COMMISSIONER

Melissa Haman (“Plaintiff”) filed this administrative appeal under 42 U.S.C. § 405(Qg)
against the Acting Commissioner of Socsacurity (“Defendat” or “the Acting
Commissioner”), seeking to rege the decision of the SocBécurity Administration (“SSA”)
denying her claim for Title Il disability insura@denefits and Title XVI supplemental security
income under the Social Security Act. Compiadated Oct. 18, 2017 (“Compl.”), ECF No. 1.

Ms. Haman moves for a judgment on the plegsdireversing the decision of the Acting
Commissioner. Motion for Judgment on the Biags, dated Aug. 26, 2018 (“Pl.’s Mot.”), ECF
No. 31; Memorandum in Support of Pl.’'s Madated Aug. 26, 2018 (“Pl.'s Mem.”), ECF No.
31-1.

The Acting Commissioner moves for an ardéfirming her decision. Motion for an
Order Affirming the Decision of the Commissier, dated Oct. 29, 2018 (“Def.’s Mot.”), ECF
No. 32; Memorandum in Support of Def.’s Madated Oct. 29, 2018 (“Def.’s Mem.”), annexed

to Def.’'s Mot., ECF No. 32, at 2.
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For the reasons explained below, Ms. Haman’s moti@RANTED IN PART AND
DENIED IN PART. Her motion is granted with respectth® Acting Commissioner’s Step Five
finding, but denied with respect to thetig Commissioner’s Step Two finding. The Acting
Commissioner’s motion iIBENIED.

l. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
A. Factual Background

Ms. Haman, who is now 48 years old, lives in Plantsville, Connecticut. Statement of
Material Facts, dated Aug. 26, 2018 (“SMF”), ERB. 31-2, 1 10; Transcript of Administrative
Proceedings, filed Jan. 19, 2018 (“Tr.”), anrxe Answer, filed Jan. 19, 2018 (“Ans.”), ECF
No. 15, at 57. She has a high school educatiomasdoreviously employed as a receptionist
and a sales clerk. SMF 1 11-12; Tr. 59-60. Shgedllthat she became disabled and unable to
work on April 5, 2010. SMF 11 1-2; Tr. 12.

Ms. Haman suffers from sena physical impairments:dfromyalgia, arthritis, and
residual complications followingright ankle fracture. Tr. 15. 8halso suffers from several
mental health conditions: depression, postrratic stress disorder (“PTSD”), and anxidty.
She also has a history of migraine headadues.

On April 5, 2010, Ms. Haman fractured hekkmnin three places, requiring an open
reduction and internal fixation with screwsatas, and bolts. SMF { 13. Since then, Ms. Haman
has been out of the workforce. SMF  13e 8¥es alone in Plantsville in the same
neighborhood as her parents, who she says lithefnext street” from her. SMF | 16; Tr. 48,
58.

She now seeks review of the Acting Coresioner’s denial of her applications for

benefits under Title Il and Title XVI.



1. Medical Evidence

On April 5, 2010, Ms. Haman fell and fractured her right ankle. SMF 2. She was
admitted to the Hospital of Central ConnectiaulNew Britain General, where she reported to
physician’s assistant Ryan Vicino that $tael “tripped over the rug in her house and
immediately had right knee and hip pain and ragfitle pain,” and that shhad a medical history
of anxiety, claustrophobia, panittacks, and fiboromyalgia. Tr. 606ee alsalr. 418-443. An x-
ray revealed a right ankfeacture. Tr. 600—-01. Dr. Frank Gatano then operated on Ms.
Haman, performing an open reductamd internal fixation of herght ankle with screws, plates,
and bolts. Tr. 598-99; SMF { 13. Ms. Haman was discharged from the hospital on April 6, 2010.
Tr. 603.

On April 15, 2010, at a follow-up appointmexitGrove Hill MedicaCenter (“Grove
Hill"), Ms. Haman reported that she had somgcdimfort and was “incredibly anxious.” Tr. 577.
Physician’s assistant Susan E. Benn, supervisdaf b§erratana, examined the incision site and
found it “good without drainage or signs of infectiold” Ms. Haman'’s sutures were removed,
and her ankle had slightvelling and ecchymosidd. X-rays taken that day showed the
hardware to be in place with good alignmedi.Ms. Haman'’s ankle was placed into a cam
walker—a controlled ankle movement boot—anthp#ed to be toe-touch weight bearing with
the assistance of crutchédg.

On May 3, 2010, at follow-up appointment at Grove Hill, Ms. Haman reported she had

been doing well but that she had a “new injurgtgeday when she tripped and hit her right foot”

! Ecchymosis “is defined as ‘[a] purplish patch caused by extravasation of blood into the skirieriwaitds,
bruising.”Meng Meng Lin v. City of N,¥o. 16-cv-2270 (ERK)(PK), 2018 WL 4119207, at *2 n.1 (E.D.N.Y. Aug.
29, 2018) (internal citation omittedee alsdBatista v. Comm’r of Soc. Seblo. 16-cv-3629 (KAM), 2018 WL
4964102, at *2 n.7 (E.D.N.Y. Oct. 15, 2018) (“Ecchymosis is ‘[t]he passage of blood from rugaged b

vessels into subcutaneous tissue, marked by a purple discoloration of the skin.’tn(ciaitited).
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while wearing her cam walkemd that she had increased psiince then and “felt a snapping
sensation in her ankle.” Tr. 576. Dr. Gerratemamined her and found some swelling and
moderate restriction in motion, bilat the internal hardware remaghin place and that the fall
did not appear to hawdisrupted the fracturdd. Dr. Gerratana instructed her to continue to wear
the cam walkend.

On June 3, 2010, at a follow-up appointment at Grove Hill, Ms. Haman reported
continued ankle discomfoand stiffness. Tr. 57®r. Gerratana reported x-rays showed further
healing of the fracture and instructed her toticwe to wear the cam walker and an ankle ASO
brace.ld.

On July 15, 2010, at a follow-up appointment at Grove Hill, Ms. Haman reported some
discomforts in the right ankldr. 574. Dr. Gerratana reportédtat Ms. Haman “walks with a
limp,” “has some weakness of right ankle dorsifleXiathout tenderness over the proximal
fibula,” “has good sensation of her foot,”wsll as “good motion of her right knee without
effusion or instability.d. He also reported x-rays showed thealed trimalleolar fracture,” but
that her right knee was “unremarkablil’ He instructed Ms. Haman to begin physical therapy
to strengthen her ankle and ordered an EM@eeonduction test to further evaluate her
dorsiflexion weakness ahe right ankleld.

On August 19, 2010, at a follow-up appointmanGrove Hill, Ms. Haman reported
“improved motion and strength of her ankle.” $73. Dr. Gerratana reported that she had “a

moderate restriction of henkle motion,” “active dorsiflexion téhe initial position,” and “no

2 “Dorsiflexion is the upward movement of the foot or toes, so that the toes are brought closehit Fi&/alerio

v. Comm’r of Soc. SedNo. 08-cv-4253 (CPS), 2009 WL 2424211, at *5 n.34 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 6, 2009) (citing
STEDMAN’SMED. DICTIONARY 775 (27th ed. 2000)ee also Rodriguez v. Astriéo. 12-cv-4103, 2013 WL
1282363, at *4 n.21 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 28, 20X3)orsiflexion is the ‘[u]pward movement (extension) of the foot or
toes.”) (citation omitted).

4



neurovascular deficits of the foot,” and addiskat she would comtue with her exercise
program.ld.

On October 1, 2010, at a follow-up appointrnat Grove Hill, Ms. Haman reported
“some discomforts and weakness in the ankle.’572. Dr. Gerratana reported that she had “a
mild restriction of right akle dorsiflexion with some dsiflexion weakness,” “diffuse
tenderness of the ankle,” and “no neurovasculficite and that x-rays showed “union of the
ankle fractures.Id. His impression was that she had a 1mgpfracture” and advised that she
“will be allowed increased activities” andlivcontinue with physical therapy programd.

On December 2, 2010, at a follow-up appwiant at Grove Hill, Ms. Haman reported
that she has “greater motiontbe ankle now.” Tr. 571. Dr. Getema reported that she had “a
mild to moderate restriction in motion,ti6rsiflexion to the neutral position,” and “no
neurovascular deficit of the right ledd.

On March 4, 2011, at a follow-up appointment at Grove Hill, Ms. Haman reported
“bilateral knee discomfort” and that “her sympts are worse with activity and changes in the
weather.” Tr. 570. Dr. Gerratangpmted that Ms. Haman “walkgith a limp,” that her “right
ankle has dorsiflexion to 90°,” and “nourevascular deficit of the right legld. He also found
that her knees have “some diffuse tendsstiebut “no knee effusion or instabilityld. X-rays of
her knees revealed “no sigmiéint boney abnormaliseexcept for some right knee diffuse
osteoperosis.Id. Ultimately, his impression was that dies some “right ankle discomfort due
to the residuals of her ankle fracture” and “sooilateral knee ache andse right knee diffuse
osteoperosis.ld. He advised that she “will be allowed increased activities” and “take calcium

supplements.id.



On June 13, 2011, at a follow-up appointmen&rove Hill, Ms. Haman reported “some
posterior right ankle discomfort.” Tr. 569. Dr. Geamaa reported that Ms. Haman “walks with a
limp,” “has some mild swelling of her right amkhnd some tendernessothe posterior tibial
tendon and Achilles tendon,” and a “slight dease of her right ankle dorsiflexiond. X-rays of
her right ankle showed theaftture “to be solidly unitedId. His impression was that she was
“symptomatic from the residuals of her” ftape, “has some right ankle posterior tibial
tendinitis,” and “some bilateral knee discomfqgntobably associatasglith some patellar
chondromalacia®Id. He supplied Ms. Haman with “heeltf” advised her to continue her
current medication, and plannedréassess her in three montias.

On September 12, 2011, at a follow-up appuart at Grove Hill, Ms. Haman reported
“some posterior ankle discomfort as well amedilateral knee discomfort,” and that her
symptoms are “worse with activity and weatbkanges.” Tr. 568. Dr. Getemna reported that

her right ankle “has a mild re&ttion to motion, especially witborsiflexion limitations,” “some
diffuse tenderness of the ankle,” and “sotanderness” in her right Achilles tendtoh.He also
reported that her knees have “fairly good motwith some tenderness of the patellofemoral
joints” and “no knee effusion or instabilityld. His impression was that she was “symptomatic
from residuals of her right ankle fracture with some Achilles tendinitis” and that she “has

bilateral patellachondromalacia.ld. He supplied Ms. Haman with“aeel lift,” advised her to

continue her current medication, andriad to reassess her in three months.

3 “Chondromalacia patella is abnormal softening of the cartilage of the underside the kneecap (patella). It is a cause
of pain in the front of the knee (anterior knee painpr@itomalacia patella is one of the most common causes of
chronic knee pain. Chondromalacia patella results fragemkration of cartilage due to poor alignment of the

kneecap (patella) as it slides over lilvser end of the thighbone (femur)raris v. Colvin No. 14-cv-551-JTC,

2016 WL 824446, at *5 n.5 (W.D.N.Y. Mar. 3, 2016) (citation omittedg also Rodrigue2013 WL 1282363, at

*6 n.42 (“Chondromalacia refers to the softening of cartilage.”) (citation omiteadyell v. AstrueNo. 5:12-CV-

0305 GTS/ATB, 2013 WL 2237839, at *8 n.4 (N.D.N.Y. May 21, 2013) (“Chondromalacia patella, is a general term
indicating damage to the cartilage under the knee cap.”).



On December 12, 2011, at a follow-up appwiant at Grove Hill, Ms. Haman reported
“some bilateral knee discomfort as well as some ankle discomfort” and that she is “seeing Dr.
Anwar for fibromyalgia.” Tr. 567. Dr. Gerratangpated that “she walks with a limp,” “has a
mild restriction of right ankle motion due tioe residuals of herfracture, and “has no
neurovascular deficits of the right footd. He also reported that shas a “mild restriction of
knee motion with some patellofenabjoint tenderness and crepitdsyut “no knee effusion or
instability.” Id. His impression was that she was “mildlymptomatic from the residuals of her
right ankle fracture status post surgergtidnas “bilateral knee pain due to patellar
chondromalacia.ld. He advised her to continue “her knedabilitative exercises,” noted that
she “uses a heel pad,” and plant@deassess her in three months.

On March 12, 2012, at a follow-up appointmmat Grove Hill, Ms. Haman reported
“some right ankle and bilateral knee disconggrand that her symptoms are “worse with
increased activity.” Tr. 566. Dr. Gerratana rapdrthat “her righainkle has a moderate
restriction in motion wth some tenderness over the digtehilles and posterial tibial tendon.”
Id. He also reported that her knees “have a mtriaion in flexion with some tenderness over
the patellofemoral joints,” and “no knee effusion or instabilitgt."His impression was that she
was “symptomatic from her patella chondromalaassvell as the residuals of her right ankle
fracture and some tendinitidd. He prescribed her Zanafl&instructed her to “continue with

some rehabilitative exercises,” and planned to reassess her in two rfehnths.

4 “Crepitus’ refers to ‘the grating of a jainoften in association with osteoarthritisKhan v. Comm’r of Soc. Sec.
No. 14-cv-4260 (MKB), 2015 WL 5774828, n.6 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 2015) (citingrepitus STEDMAN’SMED.
DicT. (28th ed. 2006%ee also Astolos v. Astrudo. 06-cv-678, 2009 WL 3333234, at *3 n.17 (W.D.N.Y. Oct. 14,
2009) (“Crepitus describes the grating sound produced by bone fragments that rub togethacfuoed fbone.”)
(citation omitted).

5> “zanaflex, a skeletal muscle relaxant, relieves spasusitado v. ColvinNo. 15 Civ. 2283 (JCF), 2016 WL
3866587, at *6 n.24 (S.D.N.Y. Jul. 13, 2016) (citation omitted).
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On June 25, 2012, at a follow-up appointmen&rove Hill, Ms. Haman reported “some
recurrent lower leg swelling that is more sigeaiint on the right which improves with rest.” Tr.
565. Dr. Gerratana reported thaeskalked with a “slight limp,” tht her right ankle “has a mild
restriction in motion with someéiffuse tenderness,” and that higiht lower leg “has some mild
swelling . . . without any signifant tenderness except over the pafmoral jointbilaterally.”

Id. His impression was that she was symptomatiafiffeer right ankle posttraumatic arthritis as
well as some lower leg swelling possibly [due] to venous insufficiendyFle planned for her
to have a “vascular consultation”dto reassess her in six weeks.

On September 24, 2012, at a follow-up appuart at Grove Hill, Ms. Haman reported
“right ankle discomfort as well as some bitaeknee pain.” Tr. 564. DGerratana reported that
she “walks with a limp,” and #t her right ankle “has a moderate restriction in motion with
another 5° of dorsiflexion” as well as “serdiffuse tenderness” and “tenderness over the
posterior tibial tendon.Id. He found “no neurovascular deficiv$é the lower extremities.” Her
knees had “good motion, strengthdastability but there is tendesss over the patellofemoral
joints.” Id. His impression was that she was “sympttmftom her post-traumatic right ankle
arthritis as well as some right posterior tiliendonitis and bilateralhondromalacia patellald.
He supplied her with bilateral &Elifts, advised her to contire her current medications, and
planned to reassess her in three morths.

On January 4, 2013, at a follow-up appointitngt Grove Hill, Ms. Haman reported
“discomfort because of her knee arthritis.” Tr. 5B2. Gerratana reported that her ankle “has a
mild restriction in motion espealiy with dorsiflexion” and “eme tenderness over the posterior
tibial tendon.”ld. Her knees had “mild resttion of flexion with some tenderness and crepitus

over the patellofemoral jointld. His impression was that she had “posttraumatic right ankle



arthritis and patellar chondromalaciéd’ He advised her to continwéth Flexeril, Motrin, and
Tylenol, and to return to i “if new problems developld. No subsequent documentation of
appointments with Dr. Gerratana aaps in the administrative record.

On June 26, 2014, licensed clinical sogvarker Sue Thomaat Bristol Hospital
Counseling Center saw Ms. Haman for atiaghassessment. Tr. 458-61. Ms. Haman reported
depression, anxiety, and otherdieal issues. Tr. 458. Ms. Thomas diagnosed Ms. Haman with
“generalized anxiety,” rting that she “has been struggliwith applying for disability based on
her medical conditions and thissheaused increased stress,” ali a®relationship issues with
her significant other. Tr. 460. She recommehttat Ms. Haman begin individual therajy.

On July 17, 2014, Ms. Haman saw Ellen Babcock, a licensed marriage and family
therapist at Bristol Hepital Counseling Center, and develdgemaster treatment plan. Tr. 462—
63. They agreed that Ms. Haman would begimsdnths of individual therapy as needed with
Ms. Babcock and medication management as needed with APRN Sue Wargo and Jeffrey
Shelton, M.D.ld.

On December 10, 2014, Dr. Max Lee WalladeD. conducted an x-ray study of Ms.
Haman’s knees that was ordered by Dr. Hoam Tr. 410-12. Dr. Wallace noted a “very early
trace superior pole patella osteophyte formaitidn,411, but otherwise concluded it was an
“unremarkable study.” Tr. 410.

On January 29, 2015, Ms. Haman saw Dr. Christopher K. Manning, M.D. for an initial
visit with chief complaints of fiboromyalgiand depressive disad Tr. 465—-66. Dr. Manning
wrote that Ms. Haman “presents today with whiaglieve is probably more of a dysthymic
condition than true fibrogalgia.” He elaborated:

She does have generalized pain and probable resulting persistent
headaches but she does not haweable bowel syndrome or any of



the other classic symptoms of fiboromyalgia. What is most evident Is
that she has had long-standingastic and at times uncontrolled
anxiety with a depressive component, She has failed or mostly been
intolerant to so many differe®SRIs, Cymbalta, Lyrica, Neurontin,
Xanax and has only been able to tolerate Klonopin. When | have
seen cases like this is almost always because of underlying
significant psychiatric disease. eleril seem to give her some
benefit for [a] number of years bilten stop[ped] working. She may
have actually gotten more of an antidepressant effect from that drug.
She states that she’s here to see me more specifically to two bilateral
hand pain and swelling and although her fingers were generally
tender and may be slightly swollen this is not synovitis and maybe
more mild edema. With CMC joiivolvement this could be early
osteoarthritis. Her recent negagirheumatologic studies support a
noninflammatory process. She is not having symptoms to support
carpal tunnel syndrome. | went on to have a longer conversation
with her and her mother aboull af these issues in a strongly
suggested that slget in to be sen and maybe trest by psychiatry
since | believe this is what's kky fueling her pain syndrome, She
wanted us to get involved in doing disability pape&ince this is

her third time filing for Social Secity disability but | explained to

her that we no longer to form completion and | think she’s going to
end up staying with her current rmeatologist for that reason alone,

| agreed to try calling in a differentuscle relaxant [for] her but her
insurance was already denying tmma prescription and I'm not
sure what they will cover. | donthink will end up seeing her back
unless things change.

Tr. 465-66.

On April 4, 2015, consultative examineil Greitas, M.D. examined Ms. Haman. Tr.
495-97. He found that her “ambulation is slightifficult,” but that she had “no difficulties
getting on and off the exam table,” “getting outlué chair,” or “dresag herself.” Tr. 496. He
observed that she used a cane, which she statetfor stability dug¢o her weakness in her
ankle.” Tr. 497. He found that her kneaga of motion was normal in all directidd. He also
found that her right ankle doftgixion was 15 degrees, planar flexion was 130 degrees, and
internal rotation on the rigtand left was 20 degredsd. He also observed that she was unable to

walk on her heels, to squat, or to walk on hestdue to her inability tmove her right ankldd.
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He also observed that her ankle was swollen,shathad 2+ edema to the middle lower leg, and
that she had 3/5 strength on the rilgiwter extremity and ankle regiold. His overall

impression was that she had a decreased rangetafn in her right ankle, needed her cane for
ambulation, and would have limitations in her abitiystand and walk for a long period of time.
Id.

On April 8, 2015, consultative examiner grgychologist Marc Hillorand examined Ms.
Haman. Tr. 491-93. He generally observed that h&it g slow,” that she “walks with a cane”
and “has difficulty climbing stairs,” and thahe had “mild psychomot retardation.” Tr. 491.
Overall, he found Ms. Haman “alert and orientedlirspheres,” noting that she “may have some
slight concentration problems” but “was ablaépeat five digitdorward, but only three
backward,” and that it “took one trial for herrgpeat four words immediately” and that “after
10 minutes, she remembered all four.” 492. He concluded her “verbal and nonverbal
reasoning abilities” appeed intact,” and found “no evidea of a cyclical mood disorder,
psychotic disorder, or severe cognitive disordiet.”

Ms. Haman reported that she had “daljysphoric thought content with prominent
irritability” and “passve suicidal ideation.Td. She also “endorsed depressogenic cognitions”
and reported “a frequency of panitaaks of one every few monthsd. With respect to daily
activities, Ms. Haman reported that she “can perform hygiene tasks autonomously and never
neglects those,” that she “does household chotagdids leaving the house,” and “spends most
of her time at home Id. She also reported that she drivi&dthough never further than about 10
minutes” from her home,” and that she mandggdinances and hassmall social support
network.ld. Dr. Hillbrand’s diagnostic mental healitmpressions were: posttraumatic stress

disorder, chronic; panic disordesthout agoraphobia; and majorptessive order, moderate. Tr.
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492-93. Ultimately, he concluded that “she has struggled for years with posttraumatic stress and
panic disorder symptoms and has more regdr@tome depressed,” and that these factors
“adversely impact her futional capacity.” Tr. 493.

On July 10, 2015, licensed clinical social worker Deborah Siegel at Bristol Hospital
Counseling Center prepared a stan/discharge summary report. 501. The report states that
Ms. Haman’s previous therapist, Ms. Babcocld retired, and that Ms. Haman met briefly with
Ms. Siegel for therapy “but reported stabilitgd has been having her medications prescribed
elsewhere for some time.” Tr. 501. As a result, Slegel reported her sltharged from therapy
at Bristol Hospital Counseling Centéal.

On January 15, 2016, consultative examinerdillbrand examined Ms. Haman again.

Tr. 538—-40. Compared with her prior visit, tencluded that her symptoms of PTSD had
“become less severe over the time,” but thatjagic disorder “appeats have worsened over
time and now includes agoraphobia.” Tr. 540. He also found that her “ability to comprehend,
retain and carry out simple tasks is mildly inmpé,” that her “abilityto comprehend, retain, and
carry out complex tasks is moderately impaireshd that her “ability to interact appropriately
with supervisors, coworksy and the general publicnsoderately impaired.Id.

On June 21, June 28, September 8, September 13, and September 27 of 2016, Ms. Haman
was treated by licensed dltal social worker Harold Fischat Connecticut Behavioral Health
Associates, P.C. in Southington, Connectitmt anxiety and depression. Tr. 556, 555, 554, 553,
552. On October 18, November 1, Novem®eand November 30 of 2016, Ms. Haman was

treated by Donnalee O’Connell for anxiety and depression. Tr. 551, 550, 549, 548.
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On December 9, 2016, Dr. Phil Watsky, MIzompleted a set of interrogatories as to
Ms. Haman as requested by her attorney. Tr. 541H4d%eported that he had been treating Ms.
Haman since 1999. Tr. 541. He indicated that INeenan’s fibromyalgia was characterized by
widespread pain, fatigue, and sleep disruption, that her complantsconsistent with clinical
findings, and that she suffers framumber of somatic symptofiiacluding muscle pain and
weakness, chronic fatigue syndrome, anxdksprder, and migraine. Tr. 542—-43. He further
indicated that her fibromyalgia symptoms varngeaverity from day talay, that she experiences
hand pain and swelling 3 or more days perkyaad that her symptoms do not overlap with
symptoms from other conditions. Tr. 543—44. Ovefadljndicated that fibromyalgia has been
present by history and consistent with physical examinations since April 142 Z01944.

On December 21, 2016, Nicholas B. Fa&iM.D., a specialist in rheumatology,

completed a set of interrogatories as to Miaman as requested by her attorney. Tr. 557-61. He

8 While no first name for Dr. Watsky appears in thieserrogatories, the exhibit list for ALJ Thomas’s 2013
decision provides his first name. Tr. 115.

7 “Somatization is ‘the expression of mental phenomena as physical (somatic) sympamser v. Berryhill No.
14-cv-6569, 2017 WL 2334889, at *4 n.2 (W.D.N.Y. W0, 2017) (citation omitted). The SSA “recognizes two
sets of criteria for diagnosing fibromyalgia, either ofatthcan support a physician’s opinion that the impairment
was present.Campbell v. ColvinNo. 5:13-cv-451 (GLS/ESH), 2015 WL 73763, at *5 n.17 (N.D.N.Y. Jan. 6,
2015) (citing SSR 12-2p (2012)). “Essential to both setsitefier are (1) findings of widespread pain, ‘that is, pain
in all quadrants of the body (the right and left sides of the body, both above and below the waist) and axial skeletal
pain (the cervical spine, anterior chest, thoracic spineywoback)-that has persisted (or that persisted) for at least
three months,” and (2) evidence thdtetdisorders that could cause the symptoms and signs had been excluded.
The first set of criteria, based upon the 1990 ACR Criferithe Classification of Fibromyalgia, further requires

the finding of ‘at least 11 [out of 18 designated] positive tender points on physical examination,” which must be
found bilaterally and both above and below the waist. The second set of criteria, based upon the 2010 ACR
Preliminary Diagnostic Criteria, requirkepeated manifestations of six or more fiboromyalgia symptoms, signs, or
co-occurring conditions, especially manifestations of fatigue, cognitimeeorory problems (‘fitw fog’), waking
unrefreshed, depression, anxiety disorder, or irritable bowel syndrome.” Under this sagmudtii method,

‘signs’ include certain ‘somatic symptomsld. (citing SSR 12—-2p (2012)).

8 The administrative record before the Court does not contain any treatment notes or othies ogiiered by Dr.
Watsky. Such evidence was considered by ALJ Thomas in his 2013 decision. Tr. 107. ALJ Thomasatoted th
treatment notes from Dr. Watsky “indicate that she had a fiboromyalgia diagnosis dating back'téd2@@0.J
Thomas also noted that Dr. Watsky examined Ms. Hammafwgust 12, 2011, found that she had “multiple tender
points and edema,” and prescribed her Cymbalta for her fibromyhigia.
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reported that he had been treating Ms. Hasiace 2011 and that she had 27 visits with fiim.
Tr. 557. He indicated that Ms. Haman'’s fibrorgya was characterized by widespread pain,
fatigue, and sleep disruption, that lsemplaints were consistentttv clinical findings, and that
she suffers from a number of somatic symmancluding muscle pain, muscle weakness,
nausea, chest pain, diarrheaxiaty disorder, and migrainesr. 558-59. He further indicated
that her fibromyalgia symptomsmyain severity from day to day over time, that she experiences
hand swelling and hand pain three or more gegysveek. Tr. 559. He noted, however, that her
symptoms “overlap with symptoms from othenditions.” Tr. 560. Overall, he indicated that
fiboromyalgia has been present by history and isteist with physical examinations since April
14, 2010.d.
2. First Set of Proceedings Beforethe SSA

Ms. Haman first filed angplication for disability instance benefits on August 9, 2011,
claiming a disability onsetate of August 11, 2013ee Gordon v. ColvjiNo. 3:14-cv-1348
(VLB), 2017 WL 822796, at *1 (D. Conn. Mar. 2, 201That application was denied, and was
ultimately denied by Administrative Law Judge James E. Thomas on February 19d2@13.
*8; Tr. 100-116.

On July 21, 2014, the Appeals Council of the SSA denied Ms. Haman’s request for

review of ALJ Thomas’s decision. Tr. 117-19.

9 The administrative record before the Court does not contain any treatment notes or othies ogiiered by Dr.
Formica. Such evidence was considered by ALJ Thomas in his 2013 decision. Tr. 109-10. ALJ Thatihatnote
in an October 12, 2012 Medical Letter, Dr. Formigaoréed that Ms. Haman “haasignificant case of
fibromyalgia,” and that she “expeniced numerous fibromyalgia exacertasi with symptoms of pain and
tenderness in her muscles diffusely,” but that she was “unable to take may of the medicatidrle &maiteatment
due to insurance issues.” Tr. 109-10. ALJ Thomas further noted that Dr. Formica opined that &swdarinot a
candidate for employment of any kind at that time due to her chronic pain and poor concentratidrat laed t
exacerbations “are not predictable and the duration of a flare up of her syngptotast up to 7-10 days.” Tr. 110.
ALJ Thomas afforded little weight to Dr. Formica’s opiniarhich he found was not supported by treatment notes
or the consultative examinationd.

14



On September 16, 2014, Ms. Haman appealedl Bilomas’s decision. Complaint, dated
Sept. 16, 2014, No. 3:14-cv-1348 (VLB), ECF No. 1.

On March 2, 2017, United States District JuMgmessa L. Bryant denied Ms. Haman’s
motion to reverse the Commissioner’s decisiad granted the Commissioner’s motion to
affirm. Gordon 2017 WL 822796, at *1, *18.

3. Second Set of Proceedings Before the SSA

On January 26, 2015, Ms. Haman filed a ragplication for disability insurance
benefits. SMF | 1; Tr. 280. On January 28, 204%, Haman filed an application for social
security income. SMF { 2; Tr. 284. In both apations, Ms. Haman alleged being disabled since
April 5, 2010. SMF 11 1-2; Tr. 280, 284.

Her applications were first denied May 4, 2015, and then denied again upon
reconsideration on January 25, 2016. SMF {1 3—4; Tr. 189, 200, 213.

On January 28, 2016, Ms. Haman requestedharebefore an Aahinistrative Law
Judge. SMF 1 5; Tr. 232. On Februarp@816, the SSA granted her request. Tr. 234.

On February 13, 2017, the SSA held a heasim@ls. Haman'’s applications in Hartford,
Connecticut. SMF { 6; Tr. 48-95. Ms. Hamapeared, represented by counsel, before
Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) Louis Bonsangue. Tr. 50. Dennis King, an impartial
vocational expert, also appeared, by telephizhe.

Ms. Haman testified that she had a high scledoication and thahe had worked at
Southington Glass Company, answering telepb@mel doing showroom sales, from 2002 to
2010. Tr. 59-60. She explained that she fell onlApr2010, broke her ankle in three places,
and had to have hardware installed the fracture6IrShe testified that slfwalk[s] with a limp

all the time” because she gets “fluid” in her righwer leg “every day.While she takes Lasix to
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help reduce the fluid buildup, idbesn’t always” work, so theere “some days” that she feels
like she has “a ten-pound bag oftefd on her leg. Tr. 62. Since h2010 fall, she walks with a
limp, uses a cane, and can no longer walk imaagstt line. Tr. 62—63. In her house, she says she
uses the cane “three-quarters of the time.” TrSh lives alone in a ranch house and that if she
ever needs anything from her basement, her fatilecome over and bring it up for her. Tr. 64.

With respect to her anxiety and panic atiadds. Haman testified that she experienced
her first panic attack when she was fiftgears old, and that, since 2010, she gets them
approximately five or six days a week. $8-69. She takes Klonopin for her anxiety, which she
says is the only medication she has been able to tolerate. Tr. 69. She also takes Ambien to help
her sleep at nightd.

In response to questions from her attormdy, Haman testified that she was diagnosed
by Dr. Manning, a rheumatologist, with fiboromge back in 1998. Tr. 70. While she had been
getting what she thought were bad sinus headathes she was a chilBr. Manning explained
to her that they were migraines. Tr. 70. 8b& gets approximately seven to ten migraines a
month. Tr. 70. Ms. Haman also explained that tertpee extremes are very painful for her, and
that in general she is severe pain all the time:

My fibromyalgia pain boosts to extme pain to where | want to just
cry. | literally don’t knowwhere to put myself. hhurts so bad, | just
don’'t know what to do. | don’t — siting, standing, laying down. |
mean, | don’t know. It’s like it all depends on that very moment in
my life of, you know, what | can’t even explain. The pain is just
So severe. Just sittiigere right now, I'm in dot of pain. Because |
don’'t know what to do with myself, I'm hurting so bad today. It's
bad weather. It's just a bad dayjust doesn’t even matter. It could
be the middle of the Summer. It just, you know, everything affects
me, extreme heat, extreme cold, anything.

Tr. 73. She also explained that her ankle injuag changed her wholédj including affecting

her ability to get ready for the day quickly. Tr. 74. Her doctor has her do stretches every morning
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to relax the tightness she wakeswifh in her muscles. Tr. 7%he says her father comes over
every day to assist her withuladry, groceries, and cooking. Tr. 75—76.

She then described getting arthritis aneléng in her hands, which prevents her from
using her hands for cooking several days akw&e 76—77. She explained that she can barely
hold a phone to her ear or type on a compUter77—-78, and that her migraines prevent her
from looking at computer screens. Tr. 78. Shaoisallowed out in the sun, she says, because of
her medication. Tr. 78-79.

While Dr. Watsky was her primary physiciangskas about to begin seeing a new doctor
due to his retirement. Tr. 79. Shlso said that her fiboromyaéyand arthritis symptoms are
significantly worse to live with than her piession and anxiety symptoms. Tr. 79. She also
described needing to keep her ankle elevatexté six hours a day to reduce swelling, as
instructed by her doctor. Tr. 88he also described symptomdatigue, reporting that she feels
like she has “the flu every day ofy life,” but that with respédo all her symptoms her doctor
told her that they had “exhausted all optionsni@dications at this pothaind that she has to
“live with this pain.” Tr. 81.

In response to questions from the ALJ, Ms. Haman clarified that Dr. Watsky was her
primary doctor, that Dr. Formica is her primangumatologist, and that she had only seen Dr.
Manning for a second opinion on her rheumatology. Tr. 84.

The ALJ then heard testimony from Mr.rj, the vocational expert, who appeared by
telephone and reviewed the portiorhef file that related to hngast work experience. Tr. 85.
Mr. King stated that her past jobs weaea receptionist, DO837.367-038, sedentary, SVP-4,

and as a sales clerk, DOT 290.477-014, light, SVP-3. Tr. 85-86.
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The ALJ then posed a series of hypothesical. 87-92. First, he asked the ALJ what
jobs would be available to an individualk. Haman’s age, education, and past work
experience who: (1) was limited to the light eieral level and would require a cane to walk,
(2) was limited to occasional ramps and stairs and could never climb any ropes, ladders, or
scaffolds; (3) could only occasionally balans®op, crouch, kneel, or crawl; (4) needed to avoid
concentrated exposure to any moving mechapads and unprotected heights, as well as to
extreme heat or cold; (5) was limited to performamdy simple, routine, repetitive tasks; and (5)
should avoid working with the public. Tr. 87. Mr.ng testified that sucan individual could not
perform either of Ms. Haman'’s past relevant jding that there wer@ps at the light level
available to them: (1) assembler — §marts, DOT 706.684-02@ight, SVP-2, 1,538,900 jobs
nationally; (2) mail sorter, DOT 209.687-026 HigSVP-2, 98,900 jobs nationally. Tr. 88. The
ALJ asked if Mr. King’s testimony was consistent with the DOT, and Mr. King clarified that it
was, except that cane use and public contact were not discussed in the DOT, but that his
conclusions were based on his thifitye years of experience. Tr. 88—89.

In the second hypothetical, the ALJ addeddditional limitation thathe individual was
limited to frequent handling and fingering bilatéraTr. 89. Mr. King said this limitation would
rule out this individual’s ability ttold the two prevausly-discussed jobgd.

In the third hypothetical, the ALJ asked Mr.ngito assume all the same limitations as
the first hypothetical, but with the individual limitéal work at the sedentary exertional level. Tr.
89-90. Mr. King said that the following jobs keeavailable to sucan individual: (1)
surveillance system monitor, DOT 379.367-010, sedentary, SVP-2, 89,600 positions nationally;
(2) lens inserter, DOT 713.687-026, sedentary, SVP-2, 30,200 positions nationally; and (3)

escort vehicle driver, DOT 919.663-022, sedentSVP-2, 92,900 positions nationally. Tr. 90.
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Mr. King further clarified that lhthree jobs were sedentary hgture, sitting down, and that a
cane would only be neededdst to the job. Tr. 91.

In the fourth hypothetical, the ALJ added the limitation of frequent handling and
fingering bilaterally. Tr. 91. Mr. Kig responded that this additional limitation would leave the
surveillance system monitor as thdyojob available to the individuald.

The ALJ then asked whether the individualuld be precluded from the position and
other jobs at the sedentaryét if, because of pain sympts and swelling in the lower
extremities, that individual needed to takeesal unscheduled breaks to sit down or lie down
and elevate one or both legs. 3t. Mr. King said that such andividual would be precluded
from that position insofar as tiseirveillance system omitor cannot be off-task for more than
3% of the time, as opposed to most jobs imclwhhe acceptable off-task level is up to 10%.

Tr. 92.

Finally, Ms. Haman’s attorney asked what ampan absence rate of two days per month
would have on the individual's employability the ALJ’s hypothetials. Tr. 92. Mr. King
responded that such an individual would becprded from all compulsive employment, based
on his thirty-five years of experience, becanseemployer would tolerate such a high absence
rate.ld.

On April 26, 2017, the ALJ issued a writtdacision finding that Ms. Haman was not
disabled under Title Il orifle XVI. Tr. 12—28. Before proceedirtg evaluate her applications,
the ALJ applied the doctrine oés judicatato the period between the disability onset date and
the date of ALJ Thomas’s decision, February 19, 2013. Tr. 12-13.

At Step Two of the five-step disabililetermination, the ALJ found that Ms. Haman had

the severe impairments of fiboromyalgia, artlrigtatus post right &le fracture, depression,
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PTSD, and anxiety, but that her additional roatly determinable impairment of migraine
headaches was non-severe. Tr. 15.

At Step Three, the ALJ found that Mdaman did not have an impairment or
combination of impairments that met or medicaltyualed the severity of one of the impairments
listed in 20 C.F.R. Part 404, Subpart P, Appendix 1. Tr. 15.

At Step Four, the ALJ found that Ms. Man had the residual functional capacity
(“RFC”) “to perform sedentary work asfiteed in 20 CFR 404.1567(a) and 416.967(a) except
that the claimant would require a cane to whtiding the cane to walk iner left non-dominant
hand.” Tr. 19. The ALJ found that she “can never climb ropes, ladders, or scaffolds,” “can
occasionally balance, stoop, crouch, kneel, aad/I¢t and “must avoid concentrated exposure
to moving mechanical parts and woected heights” as well as “any extreme heat or extreme
cold.” Id. The ALJ further found that she was “limitem performing only simple, routine, and
repetitive tasks,” “should avoid working withetipublic,” and “is limitel to frequent fingering
and handling, bilaterally.Id. In light of his assessment of Ms. Haman’s RFC, the ALJ
concluded she was unable to perform any of hst rgdevant work as a receptionist or sales
clerk. Tr. 26.

At Step Five, the ALJ found that “there aob$ that exist in sigficant numbers in the
national economy that the claimant can perform”:

If the claimant had the residual functional capacity to perform the
full range of sedentary work, anfling of “not disabled” would be
directed by Medical-Vocatimal Rule 201.28 and Rule 201.21.
However, the claimant’s ability to perform all or substantially all of
the requirements of this level of work has been impeded by
additional limitations. To determenthe extent to which these
limitations erode the unskilled dentary occupational base, the
Administrative Law Judge askedetiiocational expert whether jobs

exist in the national economy for ardividual with the claimant’s
age, education, work experienesd residual functional capacity.
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The vocational expert testified that given all of these factors the
individual would be able toperform the requirements of a
representative occupation at teedentary exertional level, as a
surveillance systems monit@@OT code: 379.367-010, SVP 2, an
unskilled position) with 89,600 pogits in the national economy.

Although the vocational expert’s teaony is inconsistent with the
information contained in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles
(“DOT"), there is a reasonable eaplation for the discrepancy. The
vocational expert testified thatalDOT does not consider use of a
cane when walking or a limitation of not working with the public.
Instead of relying on the DOTegarding these limitations, the
vocational expert testified thdtis testimony was based on his
professional experience of 3®ars (Hearing testimony; Exhibit
B10E). The undersigned has deteredinhat the vocational expert’s
explanation is reasonable and pr@sd reasonable basis for relying
on the vocational expert’'s testomy rather than the information
contained in the Dictiomg of Occupational Title§SeeSSR 00-4p).

Tr. 27. The ALJ therefore concluded Ms. Hamacaigable of making a suasful adjustment to
other work that exists ingnificant numbers in the national economy and is therefore not
disabled within the meaning tife Social Security Act. Tr. 27-28.

On May 11, 2017, Ms. Haman informed the SSA that she no longer wished to be
represented by her attorney. Tr. 8.

On May 20, 2017, she requested review by the Appeals Council of the SSA, Tr. 278. She
also attached a detailed lettdrcontentions as to erroby the ALJ, Tr. 378-81, including the
following with respect to the séimony of the vocational expert:

[The vocational expert] lostoatact with the court during the
hearing, who stated he was on d pabne due to an outage and two
feet of snow at his home, for about 10 to 15 minutes. When we got
him back on the phone the judge quickly asked if he heard
everything up to a certain poibtit provided him no update of what
happened during those 10 to biinutes of his absence. The
vocational expert sounded confuseda few seconds and then said
yes which | do not think was hdled properly. The accounts during

that time period should have been provided to the vocational expert
as he might have missed importanformation to my case. He
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claims there are 89,600 nationwide jobs that | can perform but |
cannot travel due to my anxyeattacks and disabilities.

Tr. 378.

On September 15, 2017, the Appeals Council denied Ms. Haman’s request for review.
SMF § 9; Tr. 1-5.

B. Procedural History

On Oct. 18, 2017, Ms. Haman, proceeding se appealed the ALJ’s decision denying
her disability insurance benefits and suppleta@esecurity income. Compl. Her appeal was
initially assigned to United Stat&sstrict Judge Janet C. HaBeeECF Nos. 4—6.

That same day, Ms. Haman moved for leave to procedma pauperisind for
appointment of pro bono counsel. Motion for Leave to Progetatma pauperisdated Oct. 18,
2017, ECF No. 2; Motion to Appoint Cowlsdated Oct. 18, 2017, ECF No. 3.

On Oct. 19, 2017, Magistrate Judge Joan G. Margolis granted Ms. Haman’s motion for
leave to proceenh forma pauperisElectronic Order, dateOct. 19, 2017, ECF No. 7.

On Jan. 19, 2018, the Acting Commissioner ansdand filed the transcript of the
administrative proceedings before the SSAeAns.; Tr.

On February 9, 2018, Ms. Haman again nabfige appointment of counsel. Motion to
Appoint Counsel, dated Feb. 9, 2018, ECF No. 18.

On February 14, 2018, this appeal was assigméus Court. Ordeof Transfer, dated
Feb. 14, 2018, ECF No. 19.

On February 22, 2018, Magistrate Judge Margolis denied Ms. Haman’s motion for

appointment of counsel. Ruling, dated Feb. 22, 2018, ECF No. 21.
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On April 4, 2018, Ms. Haman moved for an exdien of time to file dispositive motions,
which the Court granted on April 5, 2018. Motifam Extension of Time, dated Apr. 4, 2018,
ECF No. 24; Order, dated Apr. 5, 2018, ECF No. 25.

On June 13, 2018, counsel appeared forHidsnan and moved forsecond extension of
time to file dispositive motions. Notice ofpfjearance, dated Jun. 13, 2018, ECF No. 28; Motion
for Extension of Time, dad Jun. 13, 2018, ECF No. 29.

On June 15, 2018, the Court granted Ms. Haman until August 29, 2018 to file a
dispositive motion. Order, dated Jun. 15, 2018, ECF No. 30.

On August 26, 2018, Ms. Haman moved fordgiment on the pleadings reversing the
Acting Commissioner’s deciain. Pl.’s Mot; Pl.’s Mem.

That same day, Ms. Haman filed a Statenoéiaterial Facts with the Court. SMF.

On October 29, 2018, the Acting Commissiom®ved for an order affirming her
decision. Def.’s Mot.; Def.’s Mem. In henemorandum, the Acting Commissioner adopted the
Statement of Material Facts as aetaly stated. Def.’'s Mem. at 2.

On November 13, 2018, Ms. Haman filed plyego the Acting Commissioner’s motion.
Reply, dated Nov. 13, 2018, ECF No. 33.

On March 27, 2019, the Courtdared the case caption be amended to reflect that Ms.
Berryhill is the named Defendant in this acti Order to Amend Case Caption, dated Mar. 27,
2019, ECF No. 34.

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 405(Qg), a district court reviewing a disatulktermination “must

determine whether the Commissioner’s conclusiaressupported by substial evidence in the

record as a whole or are basedan erroneous legal standarc&thaal v. Apfell34 F.3d 496,
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501 (2d Cir. 1998) (quotinBeauvoir v. Chaterl04 F.3d 1432, 1433 (2d Cir. 199&¢e also
Moreau v. Berryhill No. 3:17-cv-396 (JCH), 2018 WL 1316197, at *3 (D. Conn. Mar. 14, 2018)
(“Under section 405(g) of title 42 of the United ®&Code, it not a function of the district court
to reviewde novathe ALJ’s decision as to whether thaiolant was disabled . . . . Instead, the
court may only set aside the ALJ's determination asotaal security disality if the decision ‘is

based upon legal error or is not supported bytankial evidence.™) (ir¢rnal citation omitted)
(quotingBalsamo v. Chaterl42 F.3d 75, 79 (2d Cir. 1998)).

“Substantial evidence is ‘merthan a mere scintilla.Brault v. Soc. Sec. Admin.,
Comm’r, 683 F.3d 443, 447 (2d Cir. 2012) (quotiMgran v. Astrue569 F.3d 108, 112 (2d Cir.
2009)). “It means such relevant evidenceaasasonable mind might accept as adequate to
support a conclusion.Moran, 569 F.3d at 112 (quotirgurgess v. Astryée37 F.3d 117, 127
(2d Cir. 2008)accord Halloran v. Barnhart362 F.3d 28, 31 (2d Ci2004) (“Substantial
evidence is ‘more than a mere scintilla. It meanch relevant evidence as a reasonable mind
might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.””) (quBitigardson v. Peralegl02 U.S.
389, 401 (1971)). This is a “very deferential standdreview—even more so than the ‘clearly
erroneous’ standardBrault, 683 F.3d at 448 (quotirigickson v. Zurkp527 U.S. 150, 153
(1999)).

1. DISCUSSION

Ms. Haman argues that the ALJ erred (1$t&p Two, by finding her migraine headaches

were non-severe; and (2) at Stape, by finding that the job afurveillance system monitor

matched her RFC. Pl.'s Mem. at 11-12, 7-11.

The Court disagrees that the Aéted at Step Two, but agreeatthe erred at Step Five.
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A. Step Two
Ms. Haman argues that the ALJ incorrectipdoded from the medical records that Ms.
Haman “only intermittently complained of having migraines” and that she “only sought care for
this condition on one occasion.” Pl.’'s Mem. at(g&iting Tr. 15). She argues this analysis was
wrong “as a matter of fact and lawd.

The Acting Commissioner argutsat “the record simplgid not support a finding that
Plaintiff's headaches were a severe impairmentRianhtiff failed in her burden to show that her
headaches were a severe impairment,” and that any error at Step Two is harmless “because the
ALJ found that Plaintiff had other severepgairments and continued through the sequential
analysis, and did not deny the claims based ofatikeof a severe impairment alone.” Def.’s
Mem. at 6—7 (citations omitted).

The Court agrees with the Acting Commissioner that any error at Step Two is harmless as
a matter of law.

A claimant seeking Social Security benefiiast bear the burden of showing that the
claimant has a medically severe impa@nt or combination of impairmentee Bowen v.
Yuckert 482 U.S. 137, 146 n.5 (1987). “The severdagulation requires the claimant to show
that [the claimant] has an ‘impairment or combination of impairments which significantly limits’
‘the abilities and aptitudes necessary to do most joluk.&t 146 (quoting 20 C.F.R.
88 404.1520(c), 404.1521(b)). It is thkaintiff’s burden to providémedical evidence which
demonstrates the severity of her conditiavierancy v. AstrueNo. 10-cv-1982 (MRK)(WIG),
2012 WL 3727262, at *7 (D. Conn. May 3, 2012) (citBowen 482 U.S. at 146).

At Step Two, if the ALJ finds any impairmetat be severe, “the question whether the

ALJ characterized any other alleged impairmentevere or not severe is of little
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consequence.Jones—Reid v. Astru834 F. Supp. 2d 381, 402 (D. Conn. 20a#jd, 515 F.
App’x 32 (2d Cir. 2013) (quotin@ompa v. Comm’r of Soc. Se€3 F. App’x 801 (6th Cir.
2003));see also Dixon v. Shalala4 F.3d 1019, 1030 (2d Cir. 1995) (“Step Two may do no
more than screen ode minimisclaims.”) (citation omitted).

Here, the ALJ found that Ms. Haman'’s fibrortgia, arthritis, stats post right ankle
fracture, depression, PTSD, and anxiety werersemagpairments, and then proceeded with the
sequential analysis, evaluating her RFC. Tr.THg ALJ also considered all of Ms. Haman'’s
“medically determinable impairments” in euating Ms. Haman’s RFQr. 19 (“As required by
SSR 96-8p, the residual functiorapacity has been assesbaded on all the evidence with
consideration of the limitations and restrictions imposed by the combined effexs#sT); 15
(identifying the migraine headaches as a “roallly determinable impairment” but finding it
“non-severe”).

As a result, any error in the ALJ’'s deterntina of the status df1s. Haman’s migraine
headaches is harmle§ee O’Connell v. Colvjr558 F. App’x 63, 65 (2d Cir. 2014) (“Because
this condition was considered during thsequent steps, any error was harmlesStjnton v.
Astrue 370 F. App’x 231, 233 n.1 (2d Cir. 2010nding harmless error where “the ALJ did
identify severe impairments at step two, sat thtanton’s claim proceed through the sequential
evaluation process. Further, contrary to Staistargument, the ALJ’s decision makes clear that
he considered the ‘combination of impairmerist the combined effect of ‘all symptoms’ in
making his determination.”) (citing 42 U.S.€423(d)(2)(B) (requirig consideration of

“combined effect of all of the individual's impairments&gcord20 C.F.R. § 404.1523.
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B. Step Five

Ms. Haman argues that the ALJ erred apStive by finding that a job proposed by the
vocational expert—surveillance system monitor—awaailable to her, despite the fact that the
ALJ found her RFC to be limited to performing “ordynple, routine, and repetitive tasks.” Pl.’s
Mem. at 8 (citing Tr. 19).

Ms. Haman argues that the requirech&eal Educational Development (“GED”)
reasoning levé? for the job of surveillance system monitor—which is 3, according to the
Dictionary of Occupational Title€'DOT”)—is inconsistent witithe ALJ’s finding that her RFC
is limited to performing simple, routine, angetditive tasks. PI's Mem. at 8 (“The reasoning
level required involves several vabies; as such, it is not simgbe In jobs classified as
Reasoning Development Level 3, the worker mapply commonsense understanding to carry
out instructions furnished in written, oral,dingrammatic form” and “[d]eal with problems
involving several concrete vari@s in or from standardized situations.” DOT, App’x C.

Ms. Haman contends instead that her RF@aition to “simple, routine, and repetitive
tasks” is more consistent with Reasoningz€epment Level 2. Pl.’'s Mem. at 9-10. In jobs
classified as Reasoning Déapment Level 2, the workenust “[a]pply commonsense
understanding to carry out detailed but uninvolveitter or oral instrutons” and “[d]eal with

problems involving a few concretenables in or from standardid situations.” DOT, App’x C.

10 General Educational Development (“GED”) is distincinir SVP in that it “embraceabose aspects of education
(formal and informal) which are requiredtbfe worker for satisfaoty job performance.General Educational
Development (GEDDICTIONARY OF OCCUPATIONAL TITLES, App’x C (4th ed. 1991) [hereafter “DOT, App’x C"].
“This is education of a general nature which does not have a recognized, fairly specific occupational olective.”
“Ordinarily, such education is obtainedelementary school, high school, or college.” It also may be obtained,
however, “from experience and self-studi” “The DOT’s GED scale is composed of three divisions: Reasoning
Development, Mathematical Development, and LanguagelBement, which each have five or six defined levels,
with level 1 being the least demandingdlynice v. ColvinNo. 8:12—CV-1381 (DNH/ATB), 2013 WL 6086650, at
*17 (N.D.N.Y. Nov. 19, 2013).
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Ms. Haman argues that this inconsistebetween her RFC and the DOT listing for the
surveillance system monitor position requires rsak as the position “is conflict with the
hypothetical propounded by the ALJ and the decision is not, accordigglgd on substantial
evidence.” Pl.’'s Mem. at 8. Ms. Haman het argues that the remand should be for
recalculation of benefits only a® more development of the redas required. PI's Mem. at 10—
11.

The Acting Commissioner argues that “PldftgiRFC limitation to simple, routine, and
repetitive tasks did not preclude her from performing the job of surveillance systems monitor.”
Def.’s Mem. at 5 (citation omitted). FurthergtActing Commissioner argues that even if there
is a conflict, remand for recal@ilon is not appropriate “asrther VE testimony could identify
additional jobs that Plaintiffauld perform.” Def.’s Mem. at 6.

The Court agrees with Ms. Haman that &i€)’s error requireseversal—but not for
recalculation of berf#s. Instead, the Court finds remand is warranted only for further
proceedings, in light of the apparent incotesisy between the DOT and Ms. Haman’s RFC.

A claimant’'s RFC “is ‘the most [he or shedn still do despite [his or her] limitations.”
Genier v. Astrug606 F.3d 46, 49 (2d Cir. 2010) (diny 20 C.F.R. § 416.945(a)(1)).

At Step Five, the ALJ considers the claimafitesidual functional capacity and [ ] age,
education, and work experience” to evaluate whethe claimant “can make an adjustment to
other work.” 20 C.F.R. § 416.920(a)(4)(v). If the ofant is able to adjust to other work, then
the ALJ will find the person natisabled; if the claimant cannitake the adjustment, the ALJ
will find the person disabledid. While the claimant bears the burden for the first four steps of
the disability determination, tHeurden shifts at Step FivBowen v. Yuckerd82 U.S. 137, 146

n.5 (1987)see also Gonzalez ex rel. Guzmabep't of Health & Human Serys360 F. App’x
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240, 243 (2d Cir. 2010) (“Through the fourth step, the claimant carries the burdens of production
and persuasion, but if the analysis proceeds téfthestep, there is a limited shift in the burden
of proof and the Commissioner is mated to demonstrate that jobsist in the national or local
economies that the claimant can perform giverrésidual functional capacity.”) (citing 68 Fed.
Reg. 51155 (Aug. 26, 2003Fpupore v. Astrues66 F.3d 303, 306 (2d Cir. 2009)).

An ALJ may determine if there are a signifitanmber of jobs available to a claimant
either by applying the Medical Vocational Gelishes or by relying on the testimony of a
vocational expertMcintyre v. Colvin 758 F.3d 146, 151 (2d Cir. 2014). Furthermore, “[a]n ALJ
may rely on a vocational expert’s testimongarding a hypothetical dsng as ‘there is
substantial record evidencedopport the assumption[s] upon whiie vocational expert based
his opinion,’ . . . and accurately reflect[sgthmitations and capabilities of the claimant
involved[.]” Id. (quotingDumas v. Schweiker12 F.2d 1545, 1553-54 (2d Cir. 1983) and citing
Aubeuf v. Schweike649 F.2d 107, 114 (2d Cir. 19813ge also McAuliffe v. Barnha&y71 F.
Supp. 2d 400, 406 (W.D.N.Y. 2008) (“I find, howevirat because the hypothetical question
posed to the vocational expert was not based @teurrate portrayal of plaintiff’'s impairments,
the ALJ committed error in posing the hypothetieald in relying on the vocational expert’s
answer to the hypothetical. Pardee v. Astrues31 F. Supp. 2d 200, 222 (N.D.N.Y. 2009)
(“Use of hypothetical questions to develop the vocational expert’s testimony is also permitted,
provided that the questioning precisely and cazhpnsively includes ea@hysical and mental
impairment of the claimant accepted as true by the ALJ.").

Ms. Haman argues that the Court shdultbw the holdings othe Ninth and Tenth
Circuits on the issue of inconsistencies betwaeRFC limited to “simple, routine, and

repetitive” tasks and a reasoning development leiv@ required for the jobs identified by the
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vocational expert. Tr. 1&ee Hackett v. Barnhar895 F.3d 1168, 1176 (10th Cir. 2005)
(holding that plaintiff's RFC linting her to “simple and routine work tasks,” was “inconsistent
with the demands of level-threeasoning” required for the jolo$ surveillance-system monitor
and call-out operator, and thatginconsistency required revatand remand “to allow the ALJ
to address the appnt conflict[.]”); Zavalin v. Colvin 778 F.3d 842, 847-48 (9th Cir. 2015)
(finding an “apparent conflict between the degil functional capacitio perform simple,
repetitive tasks, and the demands of L&/Bleasoning,” rejecting the Commissioner’s argument
that “the DOT’s reasoning levels correspamdly to a person’s level afducation,” finding that
“there is no rigid correlatiobetween reasoning levels ane timount of education that a
claimant has completed” and that “the D®Teasoning levels ebrly correspond to the
claimant’sability because they assess whetherragrecan ‘apply’ increasingly difficult
principles of rational thought and ‘dealith increasingly complicated problems,” and
concluding that remand was required because theddo reconcile the apparent conflict was
not harmless).

The Acting Commissioner instead urges @ourt to follow the holding of another
district court in the Second Circuit that hasli@dsed this issue. Def.’s Mem. at 5 (citing
McCusker v. Comm’r of Soc. Seldo. 1:13-cv-1074 (GLSR014 WL 6610025, at *4-5
(N.D.N.Y. Nov. 20, 2014) (plaintiffKkRFC finding limiting her to “sedentary work that is simple
and routine, with a specific vational preparation (SVP) of oe two, and with only occasional
decision making and changes in the work sgttdid not preclude her from the job of
surveillance system monitor).

That court cited, among other decisions,3eeenth Circuit’s holdig that there was no

apparent conflictSee Terry v. Astry®80 F.3d 471, 478 (7th Cir. 2009) (“A GED reasoning
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score of three means that the claimant rhbastble to ‘apply commonsense understanding to
carry out instructions furnished in writtenagror diagrammatic form. Deal with problems
involving several concrete variablen or from standardized s#tions.’ Tellingly, Terry does not
argue that she cannot perform these skills, parbapause the record suggests she can: she
finished high school, completed training to bmeoa certified nurse’s assistant, and has the
cognitive capacity to follow simple irrsictions.”) (internal citations omitted).

The Seventh Circuit’s holding also redt in part, on SSR 00—4p, which it concluded
“requires the ALJ to obtain an explanationyowhen the conflict between the DOT and the
VE's testimony is ‘apparent.Td. at 479 (citingOverman v. Astryes46 F.3d 456, 463 (7th Cir.
2008)). “Because [the claimant] did not identidiyy conflict at the heang, she would have to
show that the conflict was ‘obvious enough titet ALJ should have picked up on [it] without
any assistance.Td.

The Second Circuit, however, has recehtyd that the SSR03-4p requires the ALJ to
identify and inquire into all appareobnflicts—even those #t are not obvious.ockwood v.
Comm’r of Soc. Sec. Admi®14 F.3d 87, 92 (2d Cir. 2019)A8 the Fourth Circuit has
persuasively explained, the Ruji mandates that whenever ther@oissioner intends to ‘rely] ]
on [a] vocational expert’s testimony,” she musnitify and inquire int@ll those areas 'where

the expert’s testimongeems to . . conflict with theDictionary.™) (quoting Pearson v. Colvin
810 F.3d 204, 209 (4th Cir. 2015) (emphasis adyezd Cir.)). “In other words, the Ruling
requires the Commissioner ‘w@btain a reasonable explanation’ for aapparent—even if non-
obvious—conflict between thRictionary and a vocational expert’s testimonid’ (quoting

SSR 00-4p)see also idat 92 n.3 (“To the extent that otheourts have understood the Ruling’s

reference to an “apparent conflict” tefer to a conflicthat is “obvious,”see, e.g.Gutierrez v.
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Colvin, 844 F.3d 804, 808-09 (9th Cir. 2016), we respé#ytflisagree for the reasons the Fourth
Circuit has cogently articulatesee Pearsgr810 F.3d at 209-10.").

The Second Circuit held thegasing out such details andcliepancies “is precisely why
the Commissioner bears an ‘affirmative respaitis/’ to ask aboutany possible conflict
between [vocational expert] evidence and information provided in” the D@kwood 914
F.3d at 93 (citing SSR 00-4p). “Absent such ajuiry, the Commissioner lacks a substantial
basis for concluding that no such conflictdactexist.” Id. (citing Washington v. Comm’r of
Soc. Se¢906 F.3d 1353, 1366 (11th Cir. 2018)). Tlee@&d Circuit further noted that this
“affirmative duty” cannot be satisfied “by simpigking the [vocational expert] at his word that
his testimony comports” with the DOT “when trexord reveals an apant conflict,” or by
asking “catch-all questionsld. at 93—94 (citations omitted).

Here, the ALJ did not ask Mr. King, the \aional expert, about the apparent—even if
non-obviou$*—conflict between the DOT listing for seeillance systems monitor and Ms.
Haman’s RFC limitation to “simpleputine, and repetitive tasksSeeTr. 84-93;see also, e.g.
McGinley v. Berryhill No. 17-cv-2182 (JGK)(RWL), 2018 WL 4212037, at *18 (S.D.N.Y. Jul.
30, 2018) (ALJ inquired further of VE and notgaparent conflict with DOY. Accordingly, this
Court cannot determine whetheetALJ had a “substantial bas®s concluding that no such

conflictsin factexist.” Lockwood 914 F.3d at 93.

1 In a recent unpublished opiniahe Fourth Circuit joined the Ninth andnl Circuits in holding that an apparent
conflict exists between a limitation to short and simple instructions and Reasoning Development Level 3
occupations, and that this conflict required a remKedtler v. Berryhill No. 17-2248, 2018 WL 6264813, at *4-5
(4th Cir. Nov. 29, 2018) (per curiam) (“We decide onlgttan apparent conflict exists between the VE's testimony
and the DOT, and th#éthe ALJ was obliged to resolve that appatflict with the VE's help. Because the ALJ
failed to do so, however, the VE's testimony alone ‘capnotide substantial evidence’ supporting the ALJ’s fifth
step finding . . . . We are therefore constrained to vacateemand][.]”). The Fourth uit also calld into doubt
whether such conflicts are really “non-obvious,” pointingutointernal SSA memorandum in the appellate record in
which the agency’s Director for the\idion of Field Procedures “advises Regional Chief ALJs that an apparent
conflict exists between a limitation to simple tasks Redsoning Development Level 3 jobs” and “instruct[ing]
administrative adjudicators to cader that apparent conflict in deciding benefits clainid.’at *4.
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Mr. King'’s testimony “cannot, then, repezd substantial evidence capable of
demonstrating” that Ms. Haman “can succesgfokrform work in the national economyd. at
94; cf. Jasinski v. BarnharB841 F.3d 182, 185 (2d Cir. 2003) (ALJ entitled to rely on an expert’s
opinion, notwithstanding certain “deviations frahe Dictionary in such testimony,” where
those deviations do not actuatlgnflict with the Dictionary)Mimms v. Heckler750 F.2d 180,
186 (2d Cir. 1984) (SSA did noteat burden where jobs selectgdvocational expert and relied
up on by ALJ required RFC to perform light wpwhere claimant’s RFC was for sedentary
work).

“It may well be that the appant conflict between [the wational expert’s] testimony and
theDictionary is susceptible teasy resolution[.JLockwood 914 F.3d at 94. But it is not the
Court’s role “to speculate as bmw or whether that conflict giht have been resolved had the
[Acting] Commissioner carriedut her responsibilityo probe such matterdd.

Instead, the Court must “reverse and redhor further proceedings so that the
Commissioner may have the opportunity to condluetrequisite inquiry irthe first instance.”
Id.; see Schaall34 F.3d at 505 (where “applicationtbé correct standard does not lead
inexorably to a single conclusion ..the proper course is to dirghtt this case be remanded to
the SSA to allow the ALJ to reweigh the eaticte . . . developing the record as may be
needed.”)Rosa v. Callahanl68 F.3d 72, 82—83 (2d Cir. 1999) (“Where there are gaps in the
administrative record or the ALJ has appliedraproper legal standdywe have, on numerous
occasions, remanded to the [Commissionerfddher development of the evidence.”).
V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, Ms. Hamarotion for judgment on the pleadings is

GRANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN PART. Her motion is granted with respect to the
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Acting Commissioner’s Step Fifanding, but denied with resgt to the Acting Commissioner’s
Step Two finding. The Acting Comissioner’s motion for an ordaffirming her decision is
DENIED.

The decision of the Acting CommissioneMACATED andREMANDED for
rehearing and further proceedings as to Msnbiais Step Five determination, in accordance
with this Ruling and Order.

The Clerk of the Court is spectfully directed to entgudgment for Ms. Haman, remand
this case to the Acting Commissioner for rehearing and further proceedings in accordance with
this Ruling and Order, and close this case.

The Clerk’s Office is instructetthat, if any party appeals tbis court the decision made
after the remand, any subsequent Social Secapieal is to be assigned to the undersigned.

SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticut, this 27th day of March, 2019.

/sl Victor A. Bolden

Victor A. Bolden
UnitedState<District Judge
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